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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
8 "
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IFORNIA %
9 . )
January 2016 Grand Jury

10 7 E

11 ||UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No. 1 CR] O 6 6 B N

12 Plaintiff, IN EEE CTMENT a
13 v. : Title"21, U.S.C., Sec. 84l(a) (1)% -

Distribution of Methamphetamine;
14 ||AUGUSTINE ARAGON (1), Title 18, U.S.C., Sec. 2 - Aiding
MARCIA CERVANTES (2), and Abetting
15
Defendants.

16

17 The grand jury charges:
18 Count 1
19 On or about October 13, 2016, within the Southern District of

20 l{California, defendants AUGUSTINE ARAGON and MARCIA CERVANTES did

21 [|[knowingly and intentionally distribute 5 grams and more of

22 {|methamphetamine (actual), a Schedule II Controlled Substance; in
23 |[|violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a) (1), and
24 ||Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

25 (| //

26 ||//

27 ||//

28 |//
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Count 2
On or abdu£ November 9, 2016, within the Southern District of
California, defendant AUGUSTINE ARAGON did knowingly and intentionally
distribute 5 grams and more of methamphetamine (actual), a Schedule II
Controlled Substance; in violation of Title 21, United States Code,
Section 841 (a) (1).
Count 3
On or about November 16, 2016, within the Southern District of
California, defendant AUGUSTINE ARAGON did knowingly and intentionally
distribute 5 grams and more of methamphetamine (actual), a Schedule II
Controlled Substance; in violation of Title 21, United States Code,
Section 841 (a) (1).
DATED: April 26, 2017.

A TRUE BILL:

N a
/ /

“Fofeperson

ALANA W. ROBINSON
Acting United States Attorney

By: (TS;-DC(?DL\/\

TODD W. ROBINSON
Assistant U.S. Attorney

| hereby attest and certify on 1/]' ‘ lq\k’_\

That the foregoing documentis a fuit, trﬁg a}nd correct
copy of the original on file in my office and in my legal

custody.
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UNITED STATES DISTR ;T COURT By \~p@4’ i SRS
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GALIFORNIA |
January 2016 Grand Jur)( TCR] 0 6 7 BEN
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case' No.
Plaintiff, iy EE CTMENT
V. Title®1l, U.S.C., Secs. 841 (a) (I

and 846 - Conspiracy to Distribute
AUGUSTINE ARAGON (1), Methamphetamine
ADRIAN NIEVES GARCIA (2),

FREDY CRUZ (3),

Defendants.

The grand jury charges:

Beginning in or about October 2016 and continuing up to and
including November 29, 2016, within the Southern District of California
and elsewhere, defendants AUGUSTINE ARAGON, ADRIAN NIEVES GARCIA and
FREDY CRUZ did knowingly and intentionally conspire together, and with
each other and with other persons known and unknown to the grand jury,
to distribute 50 grams and more of methamphetamine (actual), a
Schedule II Controlled Substance; in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841l (a) (1) and 846.

DATED: April 26, 2017. A TRPE BILL:

e

Fdtféperson Y24
/

ALANA W. ROBINSON I hereby attest and certi L—{ A1
\ : on
Acting United States Attorney That the foregoing dochnent is a full, tr ( and c}}e/o)
/—T—?\\‘ DL gsst); g; .the original on file in my office ;1{1 in my legal
By T O b o—— CLERK, US.DISTRIC
Y SOUTHERN Y

TODD W. ROBINSON

‘ CALIFORNIA
Assistant U.S. Attorney F—

By

‘\/ ~ Deputy
TWR:nlv:San Diego:4/25/17
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UNITED STATES DISTRACT COURT gy

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF {CALIFORNIA

January 2016 Grand Jur

“1'7CR10 6 8BEN

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No
Plaintiff, ;NEICTMENT
V. Title 21, U.S.C., Secs. 841l (a) ()

and 846 - Conspiracy to Distribute
AUGUSTINE ARAGON (1), Methamphetamine
FRANCISCO TORRES-CORTEZ (2),

SARAH HUDGINS (3),

Defendants.

The grand jury charges:

Beginning in or about November 2016 and continuing up to and
including December 20, 2016, within the Southern District of California
and elsewhere, defendants AUGUSTINE ARAGON, FRANCISCO TORRES-CORTEZ and
SARAH HUDGINS did knowingly and intentionally conspire together, and
with each other and with other persons known and unknown to the grand
jury, to distribute 50 grams and more of methamphetamine (actual), a
Schedule II Controlled Substance; in violation of Title 21, United States

Code, Sections 841 (a) (1) and 846.

DATED: April 26, 2017. )44?@ BILi;ijéL

Foreperson ‘//57-
ALANA W. ROBINSON /
Acting United States Attorney L{‘ \
I hereby attest and certify on
\%3"? & AA That the foregoing document is a full, true and correct
By: I > copy of the original on file in my office and in my legal
TODD W. ROB INSON custody.

Assistant U.S. Attorney

TWR:nlv:San Diego:4/25/17
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UNITED STATES DISTRE COURT Av: ,)% .
IFORNIA "

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF §

January 2016 Grand Ju]:?(7 CR1069 BEN

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No.
Plaintiff, N 2§£ CTMENT
V. Title 21, U.S.C., Secs. 841 (a) (1)
and 846 - Consplracy to Dlstrlbute
GUSTAVO CISNEROS (1), Methamphetamine

DAVID BOLLSCHWEILER (2),
LEONEL AYALA-ARAMBULA (3),

Defendants.

The grand jury charges:

Beginning in or about October 2016 and continuing up to and
including December 20, 2016, within the Southern District of California
and elsewhere, defendants GUSTAVO CISNEROS, DAVID BOLLSCHWEEILER and
LEONEL AYALA-ARAMBULA did knowingly and intentionally conspire together,
and with each other and with other persons known and unknown to the
grand jury, to distribute 50 grams and more of methamphetamine (actual),
a Schedule II Controlled Substance; in violation of Title 21, United

States Code, Sections 841l(a) (1) and 846.

DATED: April 26, 2017. A TRPUE BILL:
J«%m )@Z «/%ﬂ
Foreperson
ALANA W. ROBINSON
Acting United States Attorney { hereby attest and certity on (,U ’“A“1
/ @0 That the foregoing document is a full, ‘true and correct
copy of the original on file in my office and in my legal
By: ( G‘%\B S D cusiody.
TODD W. ROBINSON CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT
Assistant U.S. Attorney SOUTHE ISTRI§TOF CALIFORNIA

By Deputy

TWR:nlv:San Diego:4/25/17
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CLEIRK. U.S. DISTRICT CQURT
SOUTHERM CISTRICT OF CALIFCRNI

UNITED STATES DISTRICE COURT \*AZJY' :
1 gy’ 93 JTW

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF LIFORNIA %

January 2016 Grand Jury»] 7CR-I 0 7 0 BF_N

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No.
Plaintiff, INDICTMENT 3
V. Title 2%, U.S.C., Secs. 841 (a) (1)
and 846 - Consplracy to Distribute
GUSTAVO CISNEROS (1), Methamphetamine

EDUARDO ROJO (2),

aka Juan Quiroz Rodriguez,
DAVID BOLLSCHWEILER (3),
JESUS SALAZAR (4),

Defendants.

The grand jury charges:

Beginning in or about October 2016 and continuing up to and
including November 25, 2016, within the Southern District of California
and elsewhere, defendants GUSTAVO CISNEROS, EDUARDO ROJO, aka dJuan
Quiroz Rodriguez, DAVID BOLLSCHWEEILER and JESUS SALAZAR did knowingly
and intentionally conspire together, and with each other and with other
persons known and unknown to the grand jury, to distribute 50 grams and
more of methamphetamine (actual), a Schedule II Controlled Substance;

in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 (a) (1) and 846.

DATED: April 26, 2017. A TR BIM

Foreperson
ALANA W. ROBINSON tcorty h:\ "}
1 hereby attest and certify on
ACtlng Onite ;ates Attorney 'mmmemmmm@dmmmmmsﬂmnmedmcmwﬁ
% copy of the original on file in my office and in my legal
BY : 8 \ custody.
TODD W. ROBINSON CLERK, US. DISTRICT COURT
Assistant U.S. Attorney SOUTHERN D|STRICT §F|CALIFORNIA

Deputy

TWR:nlv:San Diego:4/25/17 By
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT Ay )
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA g
January 2016 Grand Jurﬁ i
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case 7CR] 0 7 1 BEN
Plaintiff, INDECTMENT
V. ' Title R1, U.S.C., Secs. 841l(a) (1}
and 846 - Consplracy to Distribute
GUSTAVO CISNEROS (1), Methamphetamine

RAFAEL ZAMORA (2),

Defendants.

The grand jury charges:

Beginning in or about October 2016 and continuing up to and
including November 15, 2016, within the Southern District of California
and elsewhere, defendants GUSTAVO CISNEROS and RAFAEL ZAMORA did
knowingly and intentionally conspire together, and with each other and
with other persons known and unknown to the grand jury, to distribute
50 grams and more of methamphetamine (actual), a Schedule II Controlled
Substance; in violation of Title 21, United States Code,

Sections 841 (a) (1) and 846.

DATED: April 26, 2017. )%ﬁé?E BILL:

F&h reperson

ALANA W. ROBINSON
Acting United States Attorney

I hereby attest and certity on (/) ’7:1( (\
3 \ That the foregoing document is a full, true and correct
3 D 3 copy of the original on file in my office and in my legal

By: custody.

TODD W. ROBINSON
: CLERK, U.S. DISTRI
Assistant U.S. Attorney SOUTHERK\DI dilﬁﬁ#g&Nm

Deputy

TWR:nlv:San Diego:4/26/17 R
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF} CALIFORNIA g
January 2016 Grand Ju,r‘% CR'] O 7 2 BEN
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No.
Plaintiff, INDICTMENT
V. Title 21, U.S.C., Secs. 841 (a) i)
and 846 - Conspiracy to Distribute
MARINO ESTRADA (1), a Controlled Substance; Title 21,
ANA LORENA LOPEZ-HUERTA (2), U.S.C., Sec. 841(a) - Distribution

of a Controlled Substance;

Title 18, U.S.C., Sec. 2 - Aiding
and Abetting; Title 21, U.S.C.,
Sec. 853 — Criminal Forfeiture

aka Lorena Naranjo,
VICTOR ROJAS (3),
MARCO FELIX (4),

Defendants.

The grand jury charges:
Count 1

Beginning on a date unknown to the grand jury and continuing to on
or about April 15, 2016, within the Southern District of California, the
defendants MARINO ESTRADA, ANA LORENA LOPEZ-HUERTA, aka Lorena Naranjo,
VICTOR ROJAS, and MARCO FELIX did knowingly and intentionally conspire
together and with each other, and with other persons known and unknown
to the Grand Jury, to distribute methamphetamine, a Schedule 1II
Controlled Substance; 1in wviolation of Title 21, United States Code,
Sections 841 (a) (1) and 846.
//
//

DPF:nlv:San Diego:4/26/17
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It is further alleged that with respect to defendants MARINO ESTRADA
and ANA LORENA LOPEZ-HUERTA, aka Lorena Naranjo, the controlled
substance involved in the conspiracy attributable to the defendants as
a result of their own conduct, and the conduct of other conspirators
reasonably foreseeable to them, is 50 grams and more of methamphetamine
(actual) .

Count 2

On or about November 4, 2015, within the Southern District of
California, defendant MARINO ESTRADA did knowingly and intentionally
distribute 50 grams and more, to wit: approximately 427 grams of
methamphetamine (actual), a Schedule 1II Controlled Substance; in
violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841 (a) (1).

Count 3

On or about December 9, 2015, within the Southern District of
California, defendants MARINO ESTRADA and VICTOR ROJAS did knowingly and
intentionally distribute methamphetamine, a Schedule II Controlled
Substance; in violation of Title 21, United States Code,
Section 841(a) (1), and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

It is further alleged that with respect to defendant MARINO ESTRADA,
that the distribution of methamphetamine involved 50 grams and more, to
wit: approximately 416 grams of methamphetamine (actual).

Count 4

On or about February 19, 2016, within the Southern District of
California, defendants MARINO ESTRADA and VICTOR ROJAS did knowingly and
intentionally distribute methamphetamine, a Schedule IT Controiled
Substance; in violation of Title 21, United States Code,

Section 841 (a) (1), and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

//
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It is further alleged that with respect to defendant MARINO ESTRADA,
that the distribution of methamphetamine involved 50 grams and more, to
wit: approximately 422 grams of methamphetamine (actual).

Count 5

On or about March 28, 2016, within the Southern District of
California, defendants MARINO ESTRADA and ANA LORENA LOPEZ-HUERTA,
aka Lorena Naranjo, did knowingly and intentionally distribute 50 grams
and more, to wit: approximately 440 grams of methamphetamine (actual),
a Schedule II Controlled Substance; in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Section 841 (a) (1), and Title 18, United S8States Code,
Section 2.

Count 6

On or about April 15, 2016, within the Southern District of
California, defendants MARINO ESTRADA, ANA LORENA LOPEZ-HUERTA,
aka Lorena Naranjo, and MARCO FELIX did knowingly and intentionally
distribute methamphetamine, a Schedule II Controlled Substance; in
violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a) (1), and
Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

It is further alleged that with respect to defendants MARINO ESTRADA
and ANA LORENA LOPEZ-HUERTA, aka Lorena Naranjo, that the distribution
of methamphetamine involved 50 grams and more, to wit: approximately
440 grams of methamphetamine (actual).

//
//
//
//
//
//
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

1. The allegations contained in Counts 1 through 6 are re-alleged
and by their reference fully incorporated herein for the purpose of
alleging forfeiture to the United States of America pursuant to the
provisions of Title 21, United States Code, Segtion 853.

2. As a result of the commission of the felony offenses alleged
in Counts 1 through 6 of this indictment, said violations being
punishable by imprisonment for more than one year and pursuant to
Title 21, United States Code, Sections 853(a) (1) and 853(a)(2),
defendants MARINO ESTRADA, ANA LORENA LOPEZ-HUERTA, aka Lorena Naranjo,
VICTOR ROJAS, and MARCO FELIX, shall, upon conviction, forfeit to the
United States all rights, title and interest in any and all property
constituting, or derived from, any proceeds the defendants obtained,
directly or indirectly, as the result of the offenses, and any and all
property used or intended to be used in any manner or part to commit and
to facilitate the commission of the violations alleged in this
indictment.

3. I1f any forfeitable property, as a result of any act or omission
of the defendants -

(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a
third party;
(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;
(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or
(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be
subdivided without difficulty;
//
//
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it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United
States Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property
of the defendants up to the wvalue of the said property subject to
forfeiture.

All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 853.

DATED: April 26, 2017.

A TRUE BILL:

ALANA ROBINSON
Acting United States Attorney

By: XSL\TS?DL:*—I‘{?M

DAVID P. FINN
Assistant U.S. Attorney

| hereby attest and certify on ' L’{ ‘Q/L ‘ (j

That the foregoing document is a fult, true and correct
copy of the original on file in my office and in my legal
custody.

CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHEmuoleCTOFCAUFORMA
By, Deputy
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